#### No. 47755-6-II

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

MUFG UNION BANK, N.A., successor-in-interest to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, as the Receiver of Frontier Bank,

Appellant,

v.

RANDY CAMPADORE, a single person; RAYMOND E. PELZEL, and the marital community composed of RAYMOND E. PELZEL and MERRILEE PELZEL; WILLIAM RILEY and ALTHEA RILEY, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT MUFG UNION BANK, N.A.

#### RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

Joseph E. Shickich, Jr., WSBA #8751 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4500 Seattle, WA 98154-1192 (206)-624-3600

Attorneys for MUFG Union Bank, N.A.

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

On April 30, 2010, the Washington Department of Financial Institutions closed Frontier Bank and appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Company ("FDIC") as receiver for Frontier Bank to liquidate it and wind up its affairs. That same day, Appellant MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly Union Bank, N.A. ("Union Bank" or "Lender"), purchased certain assets of Frontier Bank from the FDIC.

Those assets include the unpaid promissory note (the "Note") of Voight Creek Estates, LLC ("Borrower") and the "absolute and unconditional" guaranties (each, a "Guaranty," and collectively, the "Guaranties") of its only members, Respondents Randy Campadore, Raymond E. Pelzel, Merrilee Pelzel, William Riley and Althea Riley (each, a "Guarantor," and collectively, the "Guarantors"). The Guaranties contain extensive authorizations and waivers of defenses, setoffs, and counterclaims. The text found in each Guaranty making it absolute and unconditional, without set-off or deduction or counterclaim, is attached as Appendix 1. The text providing for authorizations and waivers is attached as Appendix 2. The text providing for the definition of "Indebtedness" is attached as Appendix 3.

Union Bank moved for summary judgment on the absolute and unconditional Guaranties, and the Guarantors cross-moved for summary judgment arguing that they were relieved from their absolute and unconditional Guaranties because the general receiver appointed for Borrower sold Borrower's real property and "Washington law (e.g., Washington's Receivership statute, RCW 7.60) does not expressly authorize a right to pursue deficiency judgments following a general receiver's sale of property." CP 280.

The trial court, in an unprecedented decision, agreed with Guarantors and granted them summary judgment dismissing with prejudice the claims of Union Bank against them on their absolute and unconditional Guaranties (the "Cross Summary Judgment"). CP 448-449. In ruling, the trial court said (RP 49-52):

THE COURT: I am going to grant the defendants' motion....

\*\*\*

MR. THORESON: It's an end [of] the case until it's decided by the Court of Appeals.

MR. HELSDON: It's a dispositive ruling.

MR. THORESON: It's dispositive of all the issues.

THE COURT: Yeah, it just bothers me because their claim is for breach of contract, and the guarantee is in fact a contract.

MR. BUTLER: And for monies due.

MR. HELSDON: Well, you made the right decision.

THE COURT: I have no idea. I can see the word "reversed" coming my way in the future.

\*\*\*

THE COURT: I don't really rely on that. I don't think it's a factual issue. I think it is a legal issue.

\*\*\*

THE COURT: I am concluding that the receiver—that having sold the property through a receivership foreclosed their right to sue on the guarantee.

\*\*\*

MR. BUTLER: And on what basis? Wording in the contract or some argument that defendants have made?

THE COURT: It is the arguments made by the defendants as to the receivership statute not allowing that as a remedy. (Emphasis added.)

#### II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from the Cross Summary Judgment in favor of Guarantors and against Union Bank, and the denial of summary judgment in Union Bank's favor.

Summary judgment rulings are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. *Washington Federal v. Harvey*, 182 Wn.2d 335, 339, 340 P.3d 846 (2015).

#### III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in denying Union Bank's summary judgment motion and in granting cross summary judgment in Guarantors' favor and against Union Bank, dismissing Union Bank's claims for breach of contract, monies due and attorneys' fees and costs as barred by the Washington Receivership Act.

#### IV. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the Receivership Act protects a borrower or its guarantor from a deficiency judgment after a judicial sale of the borrower's property by a court-appointed receiver upon court order when the Receivership Act does not expressly provide for such protection, in contrast to the Deed of Trust Act, which expressly protects a borrower (and sometimes a guarantor) from a deficiency judgment after a trustee's nonjudicial sale, and the Real Estate Contract Forfeiture Act, which expressly protects a purchaser from a deficiency judgment after a seller's nonjudicial forfeiture, and when RCW 7.60.230(1)(6) expressly preserves a creditor's right to a deficiency.

- 2. Because the Receivership Act does not protect a borrower or its guarantors from deficiency judgments after a judicial sale of the borrower's property by a court-appointed receiver upon order of the receivership court, did the trial court make a mistake in holding that the Receiver's sale of the Property discharged Guarantors from their liability to Union Bank on the indebtedness remaining after application of the sale proceeds?
- 3. Because Guarantors do not dispute that they signed absolute and unconditional Guaranties that contained extensive waivers, including the waiver of all defenses given to guarantors at law or in equity other than actual payment of the guaranteed indebtedness, and including the express waiver of "any and all rights or defenses based on suretyship or impairment of collateral," should the trial court have ruled that Guarantors are barred from raising the defenses and entered summary judgment in Union Bank's favor?
- 4. Because Guarantors had actual notice of and actively participated in the Receivership, because they filed their Objection to the Sale Motion of the Property, and because the Property was sold by the Receiver upon the unappealed Sale Order of the Receivership Court, should the trial court have ruled that Guarantors are barred from

complaining about the acts of the Receiver or challenging the Receiver's sale of the Property and entered summary judgment in Union Bank's favor?

#### V. <u>STATEMENT OF CASE</u>

## A. <u>Guarantors, Who Own Borrower, Give Guaranties of</u> Borrower's Indebtedness to Frontier Bank

Voight Creek Estates, LLC ("Borrower") is a limited liability company that owned a 79-acre parcel of land in Orting, Washington ("Property"). CP 91, 430, 434. It was formed in April 2006 by its members, who are the Guarantors. CP 92, 148, 192.

To develop the Property, Borrower got a construction loan from Frontier Bank. To evidence the debt ("Indebtedness"), Borrower executed a Promissory Note, dated April 13, 2006, in the principal amount of \$2,500,000.00 (as modified by Change in Terms Agreement, the "Note"). CP 91, 95-109. The Note is secured by a Construction Deed of Trust encumbering the Property. CP 91, 111-122. The Indebtedness is absolutely and unconditionally guaranteed by Guarantors. CP 91-92, 123-142; Appendices 1-3. Borrower and Guarantors defaulted on the Note when it came due over seven years ago, on July 13, 2008. CP 92. The Indebtedness now exceeds \$3.3 million. CP 93.

# B. Frontier Bank Fails and Union Bank Buys Frontier Bank's Assets from the FDIC, including the Note and Guaranties

On April 30, 2010, the Washington State Department of Financial Institutions closed Frontier Bank, and the FDIC was appointed as the receiver to liquidate it and wind up its affairs. The same day, Union Bank purchased certain assets of Frontier Bank from the FDIC, including the Note and the Guaranties. CP 91.

# C. The Pierce County Superior Court Appoints a Receiver for the Property with the Agreement of Borrower and Guarantors

On March 19, 2012, Union Bank filed a complaint for appointment of a general receiver in Pierce County Superior Court (the "Receivership Court") under Cause No. 12-2-07227-8 (the "Receivership"). CP 148.

On April 17, 2012, the Receivership Court entered its Agreed Order Appointing General Receiver ("Agreed Receivership Order"), appointing Elliott Bay Asset Solutions, LLC ("Receiver"), as general receiver for the Property, all associated personal property and lease and rental agreements, and all revenues, rents, security deposits, storage fees, parking fees, lease payments, profits, revenues, accounts and bank accounts, and income thereof (the "Receivership Estate"). CP 148, 151-170. Borrower agreed to the Receivership Order and it was signed by

Borrower's attorney. CP 166. The Receivership Order was recorded with the Pierce County Auditor under Recording No. 201204170438. CP 494-514, 529-549. Notice of the receivership was published in the Tacoma Daily Index three times between May 16, 2012 and May 30, 2012. CP 558-559.

Section 3.3.1 of the Agreed Receivership Order explicitly provides for the sale of the Property by the Receiver (CP 153):

**3.3.1 Sale of Receivership Estate Property.** Upon thirty (30) days' notice and opportunity for hearing, the Receiver shall have the authority to sell the Receivership Estate [property] whether or not such sale will generate proceeds sufficient to pay in full the amounts owed to Union Bank.... The Receiver shall seek and obtain Court approval for any sale of all or a portion of Receivership Estate property, and may seek to invoke sale(s) free and clear of provisions of Wash. Rev. Code § 7.60.015, et seq.

On May 15, 2012, Receiver gave written notice of the Receivership to Guarantors. CP 487, 490. This notice included the statutory notice of receivership, the proof of claim form, a copy of the Agreed Receivership Order recorded under Pierce County Auditor file No. 201204170438, Receivership Schedule A—List of Liabilities, and Receivership Schedule B—List of Property. CP 485, 491-521. Because the first name of Merrilee Pelzel was misspelled on the May 15, 2012 mailing of the

notice of receivership, Receiver re-sent the notice and its enclosures to Merrilee Pelzel on June 4, 2012. CP 523-556.

In July 2012, Receiver met and talked with Guarantors Riley and Pelzel about the Property while on the Property with them. He also obtained certain documents and information from Guarantor Riley about the Property. He met with an engineer concerning the feasibility of septic system designs for the Property and with a land development expert. He conducted a market analysis and reviewed a July 19, 2012 appraisal of the Property, which valued the Property at \$360,000. CP 370.

On September 19, 2012, the Receivership Court entered an Agreed Order to Amend Agreed Order Appointing General Receiver to correct the legal description set forth on Exhibit A to the Agreed Receivership Order. This was signed for Borrower by Guarantors William Riley, Randy Campadore, and Raymond Pelzel. CP 561-566.

The Receivership Court thereupon entered its Amended Agreed Order Appointing General Receiver ("Amended Agreed Receivership Order") correcting the legal description and making no other changes. The Amended Agreed Receivership Order was signed for Borrower by Guarantors William Riley, Randy Campadore, and Raymond Pelzel. CP 171-190, 568-587. Like the Agreed Receivership Order, the Amended

Agreed Receivership Order explicitly authorized the sale of the Property at § 3.3.1 as set forth above.

# D. Receivership Court Rejects Guarantors' Objection and Authorizes Receiver to Sell the Property

On January 23, 2013, Receiver listed the Property for sale in the Northwest Multiple Listing Service for \$360,000. He sought purchasers for the Property. Ultimately, Receiver received and considered three offers, each for \$360,000, after the Property had been on the market for 110 days. CP 372.

On June 5, 2013, Receiver filed its motion for order authorizing the sale of the Property for \$360,000 ("Sale Motion"). CP 148. Notice was given to Guarantors. CP 372. The Sale Motion was supported by the declaration of Stuart Heath on behalf of Receiver. It explained the Receiver's marketing efforts, provided copies of the purchase and sale agreement and the title commitment, and stated that the purchase and sale agreement had been negotiated in good faith and as a result of arms-length negotiations. CP 214-255.

On June 25, 2013, Guarantors Campadore and Riley objected to the sale on grounds that "the sale price for the property is below market and the sale should not be permitted to proceed" (the "Objection"). CP 199-212.

On July 12, 2013, the Receivership Court considered and granted the Sale Motion. It noted and overruled the Objection. CP 360. It made findings and entered the Order Authorizing Sale of Real Property ("Sale Order"). CP 257-261.

On August 22, 2013, Receiver closed the sale of the Property pursuant to the Sale Order. CP 92, 144-146. From the gross sale price of \$360,000, Receiver paid Union Bank the net amount of \$332,252.84 on account of its Construction Deed of Trust. CP 92-93. Union Bank applied this amount against the Indebtedness. CP 93.

# E. The Sale Order Is Not Appealed and the Receivership Case Is Closed

The Sale Order was not appealed by Guarantors or anyone else.

On April 25, 2014, the Receivership Court approved the Receiver's final report, discharged Receiver, and terminated the Receivership Estate. CP 148, 263-265.

#### F. This Lawsuit Is Commenced

On August 12, 2014, Union Bank commenced this lawsuit against Guarantors. CP 1-55.

#### G. Guarantors Assert Affirmative Defenses

On October 6, 2014, Guarantors Raymond Pelzel, Marrilee Pelzel, William Riley and Althea Riley filed their answer and asserted the affirmative defense that their Guaranty obligations were discharged "due to the receivership and ensuing sale of the property by the receiver, thereby rendering the [guaranty] agreement void and unenforceable." CP 56-63.

On October 13, 2014, Guarantor Randy Campadore filed his answer which was virtually identical to the answer of the other Guarantors, and asserted the same affirmative defense. CP 64-70.

# H. <u>Union Bank and Guarantors File Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, and the Trial Court Rules in Favor of Guarantors</u>

On March 3, 2015, Union Bank filed its summary judgment motion. CP 71-89. It sought judgment against Guarantors because they had signed absolute and unconditional Guaranties but failed to pay the guaranteed Indebtedness.

In support of its motion, Union Bank filed the declaration of Andrew E. Bembry with its calculation of the amount due and its eight authenticated Exhibits A, B, C-1 through C-5, and D, the declaration of Douglas R. Cameron with its eight additional authenticated Exhibits A-H and the declaration of Stuart Heath with its nine additional authenticated

Exhibits A-I. CP 90-146, 147-275, 369-447. It also filed an opposition to Guarantors' cross-motion and a reply in support of its own motion. CP 312-322, 348-368.

On March 27, 2015, Guarantors filed their cross-motion for summary judgment, opposition to Union Bank's motion, and the declaration of Chuck Sundsmo. CP 276-311.

On April 24, 2015, the summary judgment motions were heard.

RP 1-55. The trial court denied Union Bank's motion and granted

Guarantors' cross-motion. CP 448-451; RP 49-54.

On May 4, 2015, Union Bank filed its motion for reconsideration. CP 458-483. It also filed the declaration of Joseph E. Shickich, Jr., with its five authenticated Exhibits A-E. CP 484-587.

On May 27, 2015, Guarantor Campadore filed his opposition to Union Bank's motion for reconsideration and the declarations of Randy Campadore and Bradley P. Thoreson. CP 599-630.

On June 2, 2015, the trial court denied Union Bank's reconsideration motion. CP 631-632.

On June 29, 2015, Union Bank filed its Notice of Appeal. CP 633-642.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court's Ruling That the Receivership Act's
Silence On Deficiency Judgments Discharges
Guarantors Is Backwards: A Borrower or A Guarantor
Is Protected From a Deficiency Judgment Only If a
Statute Expressly Says So, Not If the Statute is Silent

The Cross Summary Judgment is unprecedented and stands creditor-debtor law on its head by holding that the Receivership Act, by its silence on deficiency judgments, discharges a guarantor whenever a receiver sells property that serves as collateral for the guaranteed indebtedness. The law in Washington is to the contrary: a lender like Union Bank has a right to judgments against a borrower and guarantors for a deficiency unless they "are protected from deficiency judgments under [a statute] after the borrower's property has been [sold]." *Wash. Fed. v. Harvey*, 182 Wn.2d at 336, 340 P.3d 846 (2015). The Receivership Act does not protect a borrower, let alone a guarantor, from a deficiency judgment.

There are statutes that do protect a borrower (and sometimes its guarantor) from a deficiency judgment, and they are very specific and are the result of a well-known creditor-debtor statutory bargain allowing a nonjudicial procedure: (1) The Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"), chapter 61.24 RCW; and (2) the Real Estate Contract Forfeiture Act ("RECFA"), chapter

61.30 RCW. Each statute expressly protects a borrower from a deficiency judgment in exchange for a nonjudicial procedure, and the legislative history of each statute directly discusses protection from a deficiency judgment. Neither provides an express definition for "deficiency," but case law does. It is the "difference between the sale price and the debt." *Gardner v. First Heritage Bank*, 175 Wn. App. 650, 659-660, 303 P.3d 1065 (2013).

Under the DTA, "a deficiency judgment shall not be obtained on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust." RCW 61.24.100(1). Under the RECFA, "[a]fter the declaration of [nonjudicial] forfeiture is recorded, the seller shall have no claim against and the purchaser shall not be liable to the seller for any portion of the purchase price unpaid or for any other breach of the purchaser's obligation under the contract . . ." and, if a court under limited circumstances orders a public sale, then "a public sale effected under this section shall satisfy the obligations secured by the contract, regardless of the sale price or fair value, and no deficiency decree or other judgment may thereafter be obtained on such obligations." RCW 61.30.100(4); 61.30.120(9).

# 1. The Deed of Trust Act Expressly Protects A Borrower, and Sometimes a Guarantor, From a Deficiency Judgment

A nonjudicial foreclosure under the DTA is a statutorily authorized "quid pro quo between lenders and borrowers." Donovick v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank, 111 Wn.2d 413, 416, 757 P.2d 1378 (1988). In exchange for being allowed to elect to foreclose nonjudicially and get "a quick and inexpensive alternative to judicial foreclosure that does not require a court order," the lender agrees that the debt shall become non-recourse to the borrower, limited to the value of the property if the property is foreclosed nonjudicially, and there will be no deficiency judgment against the borrower: "once the lender chooses nonjudicial foreclosure, it must be satisfied with what it gets." Wash. Fed. v. Harvey, 182 Wn.2d at 336, 336 n1. But, the DTA also lets a lender elect to foreclose judicially, and if the lender forecloses judicially it does not "sacrifice...a substantial benefit that remains available in a judicial foreclosure:" the debt remains recourse, the borrower remains liable for the balance of the debt, and the lender is entitled to a deficiency judgment. Thompson v. Smith, 58 Wn. App. 361, 365, 793 P.2d 449 (1982)

As was explained when the DTA was enacted 50 years ago,

Recent legislative attempts to remedy this situation [the time-consuming judicial process and a judicial sale which does not vest title in the purchaser] have been unsuccessful because they did not correct these basic shortcomings. The Deed of Trust Act supplements that time-consuming judicial foreclosure procedure by providing an alternative private sale which results in substantial savings of time. Moreover, there is no statutory redemption period following the trustee's sale so the purchaser gets title at once. Thus, the Deed of Trust Act avoids the basic shortcomings of the judicial foreclosure procedure.

There is, however, one sacrifice which the lender must make in utilizing the private sale provision of the Act—he waives the right to a deficiency judgment. The right to a deficiency judgment continues to be available to the lender who elects to foreclose under the existing judicial procedure.

Gose, The Trust Deed Act in Washington, 41 Wash. L. Rev. 94, 95-96 (1966).

This particular bargain is found at RCW 61.24.100, which is lengthy with 12 subsections, and the result of significant amendments by the legislature in 1998 to the DTA's anti-deficiency rules. *Gardner v. First Heritage Bank*, 175 Wn. App. at 663-665, quoting directly from the House Bill Analysis summarizing the amendments. The protection of the borrower and a guarantor from deficiency judgments are specifically discussed and explained in the legislative history. H.B. BILL ANALYSIS,

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