No. 47755-6-II  
(Pierce County Superior Court No. 14-2-11438-4)

---

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

MUFG UNION BANK, N.A., successor-in-interest to the Federal Deposit  
Insurance Corporation, as the Receiver of Frontier Bank,

Appellant,

v.

RANDY CAMPADORE, a single person; RAYMOND E. PELZEL, and  
the marital community composed of RAYMOND E. PELZEL and  
MERRILEE PELZEL; WILLIAM RILEY and ALTHEA RILEY, husband  
and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT RANDY CAMPADORE**

---

Bradley P. Thoreson, WSBA No. 18190  
Jason R. Donovan, WSBA No. 40994  
FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. **Trial Court Properly Granted Defendants Summary Judgment Because Union Bank Has No Right To Pursue A Deficiency Judgment.**

As explained below, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants because Union Bank has no right to a deficiency judgment after Union Bank elected to have a general receiver sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act (instead of properly having a trustee sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act).

##### 1. **Washington Law Authorizes Two Methods For Foreclosing Upon Deeds Of Trusts: Neither Method Involves A General Receiver Appointed Pursuant To Washington's Receivership Act.**

The Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that there are two methods of foreclosure for deeds of trust: (1) judicial

---

<sup>36</sup> CP 71-81; CP 276-285.

<sup>37</sup> CP 448-49. After the summary judgment ruling, Union Bank filed a 24-page motion for reconsideration (together with a 100-plus page declaration) based on new arguments and new evidence. CP 458-481 (Union Bank's Motion For Reconsideration) and CP 484-597 (Declaration of Joseph E. Shickich and exhibits). Defendant Campdore timely objected to Union Bank's over-length brief and submission of evidence that Union Bank had knowledge of long before the summary judgment hearing. CP 588-91. In addition, Defendant Campdore filed an opposition to Union Bank's Motion For Reconsideration. CP 599-612. On May 29, 2015, the trial court denied Union Bank's Motion For Reconsideration. P 631-32.

foreclosure under Washington's Deed of Trust Act, Chapter 61.12 RCW; and (2) non-judicial foreclosure under Washington's Deed of Trust Act, Chapter 61.24 RCW.<sup>38</sup> The appointment of a general receiver pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act (Chapter 7.60 RCW) is not one of the two methods of foreclosure for deeds of trust under Washington law. In fact, Washington's Deed of Trust Act (the specific statute) supersedes Washington's Receivership Act (the general statute) as it relates to the sale of collateral secured by a deed of trust.<sup>39</sup>

Accordingly, creditors cannot circumvent the protections afforded to borrowers and guarantors under Washington's Deed of Trust Act simply by having a general receiver sell collateral secured by a deed of trust pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act. To that end, Union Bank had no right to strip Defendants of the protections afforded to Defendants under Washington's Deed of Trust Act by having a general receiver sell the Property secured by the Deed of Trust pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act.

Notably, Union Bank could have foreclosed upon the Property pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act. In fact, Union Bank was

---

<sup>38</sup> See *Washington Federal v. Harvey*, 340 P.3d 846, 847 (2015).

<sup>39</sup> See, e.g., *Waste Management of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities And Transportation Commission*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994) ("A specific statute supersedes a general statute when both apply."); see also *General Telephone Co. v. Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission*, 104 Wn.2d 460, 464, 760 P.2d 625 (1985).

required to have a trustee sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act. To circumvent the Deed of Trust Act's disputed deficiency judgment prohibition at the time, however, Union Bank intentionally elected not to have a trustee sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act.<sup>40</sup> Instead, Union Bank elected to breach the Deed of Trust by having a general receiver sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act.<sup>41</sup>

Because Union Bank elected to have a general receiver sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act (which, as further explained below, does not give creditors a legal right to a deficiency judgment), Union Bank has no legal right to pursue a deficiency judgment against Defendants. To conclude otherwise would not only defy Washington Supreme Court precedent, but it would also render Washington's Deed of Trust Act superfluous by allowing deficiency judgments (against borrowers and guarantors alike) without requiring the

---

<sup>40</sup> See *First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Cornerstone Homes & Development LLC*, 178 Wn.App. 207, 218, 314 P.3d 420 (Div. 2 2013) (holding that Washington's Deed of Trust Act did not permit a lender to pursue a deficiency judgment against a guarantor whose guaranty was secured by a non-judicially foreclosed deed of trust).

<sup>41</sup> As set forth in Defendants' opening brief, the Deed of Trust provided various remedies in the event of default, including: (1) having a receiver appointed to "protect and preserve" the Property; and (2) having a trustee appointed to foreclose upon the Property. Union Bank elected to have a general receiver appointed and had the general receiver sell the Property. But the Deed of Trust did not authorize Union Bank to have a general receiver appointed to sell the Property. Had Union Bank wanted to sell the Property, Union Bank had a contractual duty to have a trustee appointed to "exercise its power of sale and to foreclose by notice and sale." See CP 276-289 (Defendants' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment) at pp. 3:1 – 4:7.

statutorily-mandated procedures and protections afforded under Washington's Deed of Trust Act. Similarly, a contrary conclusion would undermine the very purpose of Washington's Deed of Trust Act (i.e., to avoid court action and streamline an efficient and inexpensive non-judicial process to realize on property security interests) by allowing lenders to disregard numerous obligations imposed upon trustees and protections afforded to guarantors in the sale of collateral secured by a deed of trust, including:

- Whereas Washington's Deed of Trust Act describes and defines "fair value" of property encumbered by a deed of trust, Washington's Receivership Act does not.<sup>42</sup>
- Whereas Washington's Deed of Trust Act requires strict adherence to statutory notice requirements, Washington's Receivership Act does not.<sup>43</sup>
- Whereas Washington's Deed of Trust Act imposes a duty of good faith owed to guarantors, Washington's Receivership Act does not.<sup>44</sup>
- Whereas Washington's Deed of Trust Act provides recourse to contest any alleged default, Washington's Receivership Act does not.<sup>45</sup>
- Whereas Washington's Deed of Trust Act provides for the right to stop the sale by paying amounts due and owing, Washington's Receivership Act does not.<sup>46</sup>

---

<sup>42</sup> RCW 61.24.005(6).

<sup>43</sup> RCW 61.24.040; see also *Rucker v. Novastart Mortgage, Inc.*, 177 Wn.App. 1 (2013).

<sup>44</sup> RCW 61.24.005(3); RCW 61.24.005(8); RCW 61.24.010(4).

<sup>45</sup> RCW 61.24.030(8)(j); RCW 61.24.130.

<sup>46</sup> RCW 61.24.040(1)(e).

- Whereas Washington’s Deed of Trust Act requires that notice be provided to guarantors, Washington’s Receivership Act does not.<sup>47</sup>
- Whereas Washington’s Deed of Trust Act provides for the right to a fair value hearing and Foreclosure of Mortgages and upset price hearing, Washington’s Receivership Act does not.<sup>48</sup>
- Whereas Washington’s Deed of Trust Act provides for the right to restrain the sale, Washington’s Receivership Act does not.<sup>49</sup>
- Whereas Washington’s Deed of Trust Act provides for the right to pursue a deficiency judgment against a guarantor, Washington’s Receivership Act does not.<sup>50</sup>

Because Union Bank has no legal right to pursue a deficiency judgment against Defendants after having a general receiver sell the Property pursuant to Washington’s Receivership Act, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants.

**2. The Right To A Deficiency Judgment Is Statutory In Nature And Washington’s Receivership Act (Unlike Washington’s Deed Of Trust Act) Does Not Permit Deficiency Judgments.**

For more than 100 years, the Washington Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that the right to a deficiency judgment is statutory in nature. *See, e.g., Bradley Engineering & Machinery Co. v. Muzzy*, 54 Wn. 227, 103 P. 37 (1909) (“for the general rule is that a court of equity

---

<sup>47</sup> RCW 61.24.042.

<sup>48</sup> RCW 61.24.042; RCW 61.24.100(5).

<sup>49</sup> RCW 61.24.130.

<sup>50</sup> RCW 61.24.042; RCW 61.24.100(3)(c).

has no power to enter a deficiency judgment in an action to foreclose a mortgage unless authorized so to do by statute or rule of court.”) (emphasis added); *see also* *Washington Mutual Savings Bank v. United States*, 115 Wn.2d 52, 57-58, 793 P.2d 969 (1990) (“There is simply no statutory authority for allowing such a [deficiency] judgment following a nonjudicial, or deed of trust, foreclosure.”) (emphasis added); *Washington Federal v. Harvey*, 340 P.3d 846, 848 (2015) (“RCW 61.24.100(3)(c) allows for a deficiency judgment against a guarantor of a commercial loan” upon satisfaction of certain requirements).<sup>51</sup> Union Bank’s decision to keep ignoring such Washington Supreme Court precedent speaks for itself.<sup>52</sup>

Illustrating the fact that deficiency judgments are statutory in nature, Washington’s Deed of Trust Act (Chapter 61.24 RCW) explicitly states that deficiency judgments are “permitted” in limited circumstances:

---

<sup>51</sup> *The legal right to a deficiency against a guarantor under Washington’s Deed of Trust Act is **necessarily statutory in nature** because, as Union Bank concedes, “[a] trustee’s sale under such a deed of trust extinguishes the liability of the guarantor under the guarantee to the same extent a borrower’s liabilities are terminated by a trustee’s sale.” See Union Bank’s opening brief at p. 18 (quoting a WSBA article). For secured creditors to pursue deficiencies against guarantors after a trustee’s sale under a deed of trust, therefore, a **statutory** remedy is necessarily required (i.e., the Deed of Trust Act) because the guarantor’s contractual liability was extinguished by the trustee’s sale. Union Bank provides **no** legal authority to the contrary (because such authority does not exist).*

<sup>52</sup> *Defendants repeatedly cited such precedent in Defendants’ summary judgment briefing. See, e.g., CP 281 (Defendants’ summary judgment motion) at lines 10-14; see also CP 599-612 (Defendants’ Opposition To Union Bank’s Motion For Reconsideration) at pp. 1-2.*

Except *to the extent permitted in this section* for deeds of trust securing commercial loans, a deficiency judgment shall not be obtained on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust.<sup>53</sup>

Union Bank's opening brief curiously omits the full text of the above provision permitting deficiency judgments, citing only the language of the exception instead.<sup>54</sup>

Washington's Receivership Act (Chapter 7.60 RCW), on the other hand, contains *no* language permitting deficiency judgments (in limited circumstances or otherwise) following foreclosures for deeds of trusts (as Union Bank even concedes).<sup>55</sup> Reason being: Washington's Receivership Act was never intended to be – and is not – an authorized method of foreclosure for deeds of trust; as explained above, that is the province of Washington's Deed of Trust Act.<sup>56</sup>

---

<sup>53</sup> See RCW 61.24.100(1). Union Bank's opening brief curiously omits the pertinent language of RCW 61.24.100(1) which permits deficiency judgments, citing only the language of the exception instead. See, e.g., Union Bank's opening brief at p. 15.

<sup>54</sup> See, e.g., Union Bank's opening brief at p. 15 ("Under the DTA, 'a deficiency judgment shall not be obtained on the obligations secured by a deed of trust against any borrower, grantor, or guarantor after a trustee's sale under that deed of trust.' RCW 61.24.100(1).")

<sup>55</sup> Union Bank argues that Washington's Receivership Act "expressly preserves a deficiency for a secured creditor." But that argument is completely misplaced: RCW 7.60.230(1)(a) (which merely relates to lien priority) only applies to "the proceeds from the disposition of their collateral." RCW 7.60.230(1)(a) does **not** apply to proceeds other than proceeds from the disposition of collateral (which is the fundamental nature of a deficiency judgment) and it does **not** somehow create a right to a "deficiency judgment" (unlike Washington's Deed of Trust Act).

<sup>56</sup> See, e.g., *Waste Management of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities And Transportation Commission*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994) ("A specific statute supersedes a

Had the Legislature intended to permit deficiency judgments after a receiver's sale, the Legislature certainly knew how to draft – and would have drafted – Washington's Receivership Act to permit for deficiency judgments; but it didn't. And as recently explained in *Washington State Department of Revenue v. FDIC*, No. 71524-1-I (Div. 1 Sept. 14, 2015), the distinction between the language in Washington's Deed of Trust Act and the language in Washington's Receivership Act is critical:

It is an elementary rule that where the Legislature uses certain statutory language in one instance, and different language in another, there is a difference in legislative intent. *Guillen v. Contreras*, 169 Wn.2d 769, 776, 238 P.3d 1168 (2010) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 724, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999)). A difference in legislative intent is presumed where the legislature uses certain language in one instance but different language in another. *Woodbury v. City of Seattle*, 172 Wn.App. 747, 753, 292 P.3d 124 (2013).

Where the legislature uses certain statutory language in one statute and different language in another, a difference in legislative intent is evidenced... We assume the legislature means exactly what it says and we interpret the working of statutes according to those terms. Where the legislature uses different terms, we deem the legislature to have intended different meanings. *In re Forfeiture of One 1970 Chevrolet Chevelle*, 166 Wn.2d 834, 842, 215 P.3d 166 (2009).

Because Washington's Receivership Act does *not* give creditors a right to a deficiency judgment following the sale of property secured by a

---

*general statute when both apply.*"); see also *General Telephone Co. v. Washington Utilities & Transportation Commission*, 104 Wn.2d 460, 464, 760 P.2d 625 (1985).



deed of trust (unlike Washington's Deed of Trust Act), Union Bank has no right to a deficiency judgment after Union Bank elected to have a general receiver sell the Property pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act.<sup>57</sup>

That trial court's summary judgment should therefore be affirmed.

**B. The Receivership Proceeding Did Not Create An Independent Right To Pursue A Deficiency Judgment.**

Union Bank argues that the trial court should have denied Defendants' motion for summary judgment because: (1) Defendants had

---

<sup>57</sup> *Union Bank's reliance on case law to support Union Bank's argument (i.e., that Union Bank has a right to pursue a deficiency judgment pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act) is entirely misplaced. In Gardner v. First Heritage Bank, 175 Wn.App. 650 (Div. 1 2013), the issue was whether the Deed of Trust Act permitted a series of non-judicial foreclosures; the bank never even sought a deficiency judgment (much less a deficiency judgment pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act). In Washington Federal v. Harvey, 340 P.3d 846 (2015), the issue was whether the bank could pursue deficiency judgments following a trustee's sale pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act; it was not whether the bank could pursue deficiency judgments following a receiver's sale pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act (as is the issue in this case). In Beal Bank v. Sarich, 161 Wn.2d 544 (2007), the issue was whether a non-judicial foreclosure of a senior lienholder's deed of trust under Washington's Deed of Trust Act impacted the rights of a junior lienholder; it did not involve the pursuit of a deficiency judgment (much less a deficiency judgment pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act). In Boeing Employees' Credit Union v. Burns, 167 Wn.App. 265 (Div. 1 2012), the issue was whether a junior lienholder was entitled to the surplus proceeds from a non-judicial foreclosure of a senior lienholder's deed of trust under Washington's Deed of Trust Act; it did not involve the pursuit of a deficiency judgment (much less a deficiency judgment pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act).*

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